IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICAH LOUIS NELSON,

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No. SC00-867

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

A. ANNE OWENS Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0284920

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 10, 1997, a Polk County grand jury indicted the Appellant, MICAH LOUIS NELSON, for first-degree murder, kidnapping, sexual battery, burglary, and grand theft (auto). (1/3-6) On December 19, 1997, he was charged by information filed in Highlands County with burglary and sexual battery. (1/9-12) Nelson filed a motion to suppress his statements and admissions, which was denied after a hearing. (3/450-95; 4/496-563, 611-65; 5/666-717)

Nelson was tried by jury, in Polk County, the Honorable J.

Michael Hunter, Circuit Judge, presiding. The jury found Nelson
guilty as charged on December 14, 1999. (6/859-64) On December
22, 1999, following the penalty phase of the trial, the jury
recommended death by a nine to three vote. (6/881; 26/3349) A

Spencer (or allocution) hearing was held February 8, 2000.
(6/930-1031) The judge sentenced Appellant to death on March 17,
2000. His sentencing order was filed the same date. (7/1073-82)

He sentenced Appellant to four consecutive life sentences for
burglary of a structure, sexual battery, kidnapping and burglary
of a conveyance, as well as a consecutive 15-year prison term for
grand theft, and four concurrent 60-month terms for violation of
probation, to run consecutive to the 15-year term. (7/1056-67)

The Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on April 13, 2000. (7/1091) The trial court appointed the Public Defender for the Tenth Judicial Circuit to represent Appellant on direct appeal. (7/1090, 1097) This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to

Article V, Section 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution, and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Officer Jamie Davidson, Avon Park Police Department, was dispatched to the residence of Ms. Virginia Brace at about 10:00 p.m. on November 17, 1997. (17/1808) He and Sergeant Hofstra arrived at about the same time and spoke with Genevieve Olson, Ethel Olson and Arlene Dorman, neighbors and relatives of Ms. Brace, who reported that Virginia Brace and her car were missing.

Genevieve Olson, age 78, was Virginia Brace's sister-in-law. She had known Ms. Brace ("Ginny") since elementary school. Ms. Brace lived in Avon Park only half of each year. She lived in Mayville, New York, the other half. Genevieve Olson saw or spoke with Ginny every day. That Sunday night, she did not call Ginny until 8:00 p.m. When no one answered, she called every few minutes until 8:45 p.m. (17/1739-42) (18/1811)

By then, she was worried so she drove to Ginny's home. The house was dark and Ginny's car was gone. She let herself in with her key and saw Ginny's purse on the kitchen table. Her wallet, driver's license and credit cards were in the purse, but no money. The bed was unmade and Ms. Brace's hearing aids and glasses were on the dresser. She knew something was wrong because Ginny would never drive without her glasses. (17/1742-43)

Ms. Olson called her sister-in-law, Ethel, who met her at Ginny's. Ethel's sister, Arlene, who lived in building, joined them. When they were unable to find Ginny, they went to Arlene's

to call the police. (17/1743-46) When the police arrived, they asked Genevieve and Ethel to wait in Genevieve's car. Detective Burke got in the back seat and asked them questions. (17/1746-47)

While inspecting the residence, Officer Davidson noted that the telephone cord had been pulled out of the handset because the plastic was broken and the cord would not stay in the handset. After looking around, the officers took Ms. Brace's ID from her purse, which was open on the kitchen table, and called to report her, and her vehicle, missing. The report went out to all law enforcement officers in Avon Park, Sebring, and Lake Placid, and to the Highlands County Sheriff's Office. (18/1813-16)

FDLE crime lab analyst Lynn Ernst, and two forensic technologists, met with Commander Frank Mercurio in Avon Park on Tuesday morning, November 18, 1997. (16/1546-47) After their briefing, they went to Ms. Brace's residence at 24 West Palmetto Street in Avon Park. It was an apartment building with six units. They saw a shoe print impression outside the unit but were unable to find any fingerprints around the bathroom window, which appeared to be the point of entry. Ernst took aerial photographs. (16/1547-53)

Steve Stark, FDLE crime scene and fingerprint analyst, and his assistant, Angela Leavens, responded to the Avon Park crime scene that morning. (16/1567-73) Although Stark noted no forced entry outside of the building, he went inside and found two windows that were closed but not locked -- one in the bathroom and the other in one of the bedrooms. The screen on one unlocked window was upside down. He observed very faint shoe prints outside the unlocked bathroom window. A woman's handbag and wallet were on the kitchen

table. (16/1580-90) On a bedroom dresser were a pair of eye-glasses, hearing aids and a watch. The bed was unmade. They found a pair of women's underwear in the blanket. (16/1596-97) Stark took photos and collected latent fingerprints. (16/1585-1630)

Immediately after Officer Davidson contacted all law enforcement officers in the area, Highlands County Deputy Vance Pope contacted them on the radio with information about Ms. Brace's car. (18/1815-16) Deputy Pope had responded to a call about a suspicious vehicle at 6:30 in the evening. When he arrived at the car, he found a black male sleeping in the back seat. He knocked on the window to awaken him. The man got out of the car and said he was returning from his girlfriend's house in Lake Wales, got tired, and stopped there to sleep. He said the car belonged to a friend of the family's. He did not have a driver's license but had a card identifying him as Micah Nelson. Pope could not run the car's New York tag number because the DMV computer was down. He searched the car, with Micah Nelson's permission, because he did not know who owned the car. He found an insurance card on the floorboard with the name Virginia O. Brace. (18/1871, 1897)

Nelson asked him for a ride because he did not have a driver's license. He did not appear intoxicated. Deputy Pope asked Nelson to lock the car, then drove him to his sister's house at 17B East

Joann Lambert, Avon Park, testified that she called the police to check out the abandoned vehicle which was parked at an angle on Valencia Road, behind her house. She saw no one in or around the car. An officer soon arrived. (18/1855-61) Ms. Lambert was surprised when the officer knocked on car and a black man got out of the back seat. (18/1862-64)

Adams Street, Avon Park, which was about four miles away. Nelson told him he would have someone get the car later. (18/1872-87)

Shortly thereafter, while on routine patrol, Pope scanned the Avon Park police radio station and heard the officers mention Virginia Brace. He contacted Sergeant Hofstra and told him he had found a black man in the car earlier. Pope went to Ms. Brace's residence to talk with Officers Hofstra and Davidson; then returned to stay with the vehicle until Davidson arrived. (18/1887-89)

When he left Ms. Brace's condo, Davidson went to the location where Deputy Pope was with the missing vehicle. By then, it was about 1:00 or 2:00 in the morning. He stayed with the vehicle until 5:00 a.m. when detectives from the Highlands County Sheriff's Office arrived to photograph and seal the vehicle for processing. The Polk County Sheriff's Department sent a helicopter with a night vision camera to search the area for evidence, and Highlands County deputies brought a bloodhound and a pillow from Ms. Brace's home to try to find her. They eventually called Avon Towing to tow the vehicle to the Avon Park Police Department garage. (18/1819-30)

Back at the Avon Park Police Station, Steve Stark, FDLE crime scene investigator ("CSI"), photographed Ms. Brace's blue 1989 Ford Marquis which had been towed there. In the car trunk he found a greenish-blue hospital "plastic paper" sheet and a spare tire, and a tire iron under the spare tire. On the car's carpeting and in the trunk, he observed a yellow powdery substance, and on the back floorboard of the driver's seat, a fire extinguisher. Stark lifted latent fingerprints from the car, the interior of the trunk and the interior windows. (16/1630-17/1644)

Stark displayed to the jury various other items he found in the car including cassette tapes, a soda bottle, a garbage bag, an empty pack of Newport cigarettes, a lighter, a cigarette butt and silver chain found in the ashtray, and beer bottle caps. (17/1645-53) Stark also collected samples of sand soil from the tire iron which tested presumptively positive for blood; red clay soil that had splashed onto the wheels and outside of the car; and sand, dirt and debris from the driver's floorboard mat. (17/1655-57)

About 11:00 p.m., Deputies Pope and Starling went to the house where Micah Nelson was staying, at 17 Adams Street in Avon Park (17/1714), to pick him up. His sister, Judy Bolton, answered the door and told them Micah was asleep. They went inside with her while she awakened Micah. He put some clothes on and came out of the bedroom to talk with them. Micah did not show any emotion and did not appear disoriented. He walked out to the car with them, at which time the Avon Park police investigator, Detective Robinson, arrived. Thus, they turned Micah over to him. (18/1891-95)

Sergeant John Robinson, Avon Park Police Department, testified that he drove Nelson to the police department about 12:30 a.m. on November 18, 1997, for questioning. About 1:30, he and Detective Daniel Burke began interviewing Nelson. Sergeant Robinson read Nelson a waiver of rights form and filled in Nelson's responses. Nelson signed the form. Nelson was not under arrest and was not restrained or shackled. (21/2341, 2347-59)

When Judy Bolton testified, it was determined that her name was actually "Juldy." (25/3092) She was referred to as "Judy" during the trial.

A tape of the interview was played for the jury. (21/2362-2424) Micah Nelson told the officers that he was 21 years old. He borrowed the victim's car from her about 7:00 that morning (Monday) to go to work. He knew Ms. Brace through his Mom and people he formerly worked with at "The Palms," in Sebring. (21-2363-74)

After he got off work, Nelson drove the car to Lake Wales to see a friend named Tracy, who was not a home. He rode around Lake Wales awhile and returned to Avon Park. He went to Ed Johnson's house (a school friend), and then went to sleep in the victim's car. He was not drinking or taking drugs. (21/2374-83) Many of Micah Nelson's answers were inaudible and this seemed to get worse as the interview progressed. Nelson's responses were very vague as to times and places. (21/2362-2424) Robinson testified that Nelson was calm but spoke softly and was hard to understand. He asked him to keep his hands from in front of his mouth several times. When they asked him where Ms. Brace was, he became upset. (21/2427-28)

Commander Frank Mercurio, Avon Park Police Department, acted as a coordinator of the overall investigation. After the taped interview, Commander Mercurio questioned Nelson. (21/2429) Nelson was calm and acted like "a perfect gentleman." (20/2303-06)

Detectives Burke and Robinson had informed Mercurio of everything that had taken place, with specific information as to what Nelson told them. Mercurio then asked Nelson to go over what took place on Sunday and Monday, November 16-17, 1997. He did not tape the conversation or take notes but later completed a police report of what he recalled. Nelson recounted his activities, including having borrowed Ms. Brace's car (she was an old friend),

and told Mercurio that he had no idea where Ms. Brace was. (20/2306-10)

At 6:00 in the morning, Sergeant Robinson returned to speak with Nelson. Nelson told him he lied about the victim's car and that it was stolen. (21/2433-35) Detectives Burke and Robinson advised Mercurio that Nelson had changed his story somewhat. Commander Mercurio joined them. Nelson told them that he was on a corner in a high crime area of Avon Park when he saw some other black men with Ms. Brace's car. Because he needed a ride to Sebring, these men agreed to let him take the car. (21/2436-38)

At 7:10 Tuesday morning, the officers placed Nelson under arrest for burglary and grand theft of the motor vehicle. Nelson was taken from Avon Park to the Highlands County jail in Sebring. Prior to his departure, Mercurio again talked with Nelson about the whereabouts of Ms. Brace, without success. Although Nelson seemed to nod his head "yes," indicating he knew where she was, he did not verbally respond. He was crying. (20/2011-17; 21/2340, 2438)

Sergeant Robinson went to the Highlands County Sheriff's Office that evening. Nelson said he had been given food and had been able to rest during the day. Robinson read the waiver of rights form used by the sheriff's department, and Nelson acknowledged that he understood his rights, signed it and agreed to talk with them. They confronted him with a report from two men who

 $^{^3}$ Mercurio returned to Ms. Brace's apartment at noon Tuesday, and found \$139.00 in her top dresser drawer. There was no money in her wallet. (20/2319-21)

helped him get Ms. Brace's car out of the sand in Polk County.

Nelson was slouched over with his face in his hands. (21/2441-47)

At some point during the interrogation, the officers confronted Nelson with evidence that he was involved in the disappearance of Ms. Brace. They listed the evidence on a blackboard for Nelson to read. The evidence included fingerprints from the bathroom, that Nelson was found in the victim's car, and that it was stolen. Nelson looked at the blackboard for a minute and said, several times, "it's over, isn't it, it's over, isn't it." (21/2450-52)

Robinson told Nelson that he needed to tell the truth about what happened. He said that, if it were Nelson's family member who was missing, he would want to know what happened, and Ms. Brace's family would appreciate his helping them. Nelson had tears in his eyes and appeared to be emotionally upset. He put his head in his hands. Robinson put his hand on Nelson's back and told him that it would be ok -- just to tell them where the victim was. (21/2452-53)

Robinson did not want to push so left the room for a minute, leaving Detective Burke with Nelson. Detective Burke opened the door and told him that Nelson was going to tell them where to find the victim. Robinson talked with Nelson who agreed to ride with them to show them where she was. Nelson was crying. (21/2453-54)

Detective Burke testified that, as soon as Sergeant Robinson left the room, Nelson asked him whether he knew the road that ran

⁴ The officers later had contact with Mr. Morgan and Mr. Weir who identified Nelson from a photo lineup as the man whose car was stuck in the sand. (21/2447-48) They testified at trial.

from Frostproof to Fort Meade. Burke asked him if that was where the victim was. Nelson nodded his head, "yes." Burke stepped out of the office to get Sergeant Robinson. (22/2621, 2631-32)

Mercurio called Officer Davidson that night and asked him to follow them to a location where Micah Nelson was going to direct them, to find the deceased's body. They traveled north on U.S. 27; left onto U.S. 98; north; and then left onto South Lake Buffum Road. They stopped a short distance down that road near Ft, Meade, in Polk County, about 12:30 in the morning. (18/1831-38)

As they were walking along the grove area, Nelson started shaking. He pointed and said, "she's down there." Robinson noted that Nelson was extremely emotionally upset and crying. (21/2454-56) Detective Burke was able to see Nelson's face from the car lights and noted that he seemed somewhat emotional. Burke could see tears on his face and he seemed frightened. He asked, "you are not going to make me go down there, are you?" (22/2634) Robinson told Nelson they would not make him go with them. Nelson, who was physically shaking and crying, pointed out the line of trees in the grove where they would find the body. (21/2454-56; 22/2620-21)

Robinson and another officer walked down the row of trees and found the victim's body. It was obvious that Ms. Brace was dead. She was lying face up, wearing only a blue nightgown. They backed

⁵ Prior to Burke's description of the defendant's admissions, defense counsel renewed his motion to suppress and objected to testimony about the tapes, and Nelson taking them where they found the body. The judge granted a continuing objection. (22/2628-29) When Mercurio testified, defense counsel was granted a continuing objection to testimony concerning their finding the victim's body, which was the subject of his motion to suppress. (18/1832-33, 1926)

out to secure the crime scene and covered her with a yellow police raincoat to preserve the evidence. They arranged a "night watch" until daylight when the FDLE crime scene technicians would be able to begin their work. (18/1924-33, 2456) Robinson returned to where Nelson and Detective Burke were waiting to return to Highlands County. Other officers took over the crime scene. (21/2456-58)

When Micah Nelson and Detectives Robinson and Burke returned to the detective's bureau, Nelson agreed to give a taped statement describing what happened. When Sergeant Robinson asked Nelson why this had happened, Nelson said, "I'm just mad, mad at the world, mad about [my] life." (21/2458-60)

The taped interview, which was played for the jury (21/2461-97), commenced at 2:10 a.m. Nelson agreed that he had earlier been given and understood his Miranda rights and was willing to talk with them. Nelson told them that, on Sunday night, he left his mother's house because his brother was "playing around" with him. He went to the home of his girlfriend, Reagis Ishmael, for a short time and then walked around some more. He walked by the home of Ms. Brace and entered through her bathroom window which was open. He did not know her. She was asleep. He was not looking for anything in particular. When he walked into the bedroom, Ms. Brace awoke and screamed. She got up, they got into a tussle, and he held her down on the bed. She started to scream again and Nelson "just lost it." He did not want to leave because he was afraid she would call the police. She did not say anything but just continued screaming, which made him angry. The telephone receiver came off

the unit and the cord pulled out while he was trying to stand her up during the struggle. (21/2464-74)

Ms. Brace stopped screaming when he got her keys and took her to her car. He took nothing from her purse other than the keys. He put her in the trunk so no one would see her, and got in the car. He took her from the house because he was not thinking. Ms. Brace was not injured and did not struggle. He did not know why he picked Ms. Brace's house. He was just walking by. (21/2470-75; 22/2614) He denied having had sexual contact with her. (21/2483)

He drove around Avon Park for an hour or two. He did not know what to do. It was about daylight when he drove to Polk County. (21/2475-77) Before arriving at the grove where he killed Ms. Brace, Nelson got the car stuck in the sand near Frostproof. When the man who pulled him out heard a noise in the trunk and asked what it was, Nelson told him it was a dog. (21/2485-87)

⁶ Kenneth Morgan, citrus foreman, testified that, on Monday morning, about 9:30 a.m., a young black man asked for help because his car was stuck in the sand. Morgan told the man he would get Steve, the loader operator, to pull out his car. (19/2074-85)

Steve Weir, 41, a heavy equipment operator, was pulling out trees with a front-end loader when Morgan asked him to pull a car out of the soft "sugar sand." The driver had pulled into the grove and was buried down to the gas tank about 3 feet off the road. The car had a New York license. When Weir looked under the car for a place to hook the chain, he had his hand on the trunk of the car and felt a bump and jumped back. The man told him it was a dog; then turned on some "rapping-type music" and turned up the volume. Weir thought the car did not "fit" this man who paced, seemed very nervous, and would not look Weir in the eye. The man took off without even thanking Weir for helping him. (19/2086-96)

Although Weir suggested calling the police, they did not do so at that time. At home that night, however, he called the Sheriff's Department in Bartow and reported what had happened. He was told to call a detective at the Avon Park Police Department. He later identified the man and car from police photo-

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