IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICAH LOUIS NELSON,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC00-876

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
Phone: (813) 801-0600

Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

damage which resulted in an impulse disorder.

The Florida Supreme Court recently stated that "we have recognized that a trial judge may reject expert opinion testimony even if that testimony is unrefuted." <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly C53 (Fla. 2000). "The decision as to whether a particular mitigating circumstance is proven lies with the judge..." <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 285, 291 (Fla. 1993).

It appears to the Court that organic brain damage is becoming a popular argument in capital cases. Additionally, Dr. Dee admits that he had no objective evidence or medical test such as CAT scan, a brain wave test, etc., that would show brain damage. Finally, there was no testimony concerning the history the Defendant, other than Dr. Dee's speculation concerning his mother's alcoholism, indicate brain to damage. Further, I question whether this testimony meets the Freye [sic] standard.

The Court is not reasonably convinced that his mitigating circumstance exist, therefore it is not proven." (R7, 1076-77)

In <u>Walls v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 381, 390-391 (Fla. 1994), this Court explained:

"In Florida as in many states, a distinction exists between factual evidence or testimony, and opinion testimony. As a general rule, uncontroverted factual evidence cannot simply be rejected unless it is contrary to law, improbable, untrustworthy, unreasonable, or contradictory. E.g., Brannen v. State, 94 Fla. 656, 114 So. 429 (1927). This rule applies equally to the penalty phase of a capital trial. Hardwick, 521 So. 2d at 1076.

Opinion testimony, on the other hand is not subject to the same rule. <u>Brannen</u>. Certain kinds of opinion testimony clearly are admissible - and especially qualified expert opinion testimony - but they are not necessarily binding even if uncontroverted. Opinion testimony gains its greatest force to the degree it is supported by the facts at

hand, and its weight diminishes to the degree such support is lacking. A debatable link between fact and opinion relevant to a mitigating factor usually means, at most, that a question exists for judge and jury to resolve. See <u>Hardwick</u>, 521 So. 2d at 1076. We cannot conclude that the evidence here was anything more than debatable. Accordingly, this Court may not revisit the judge and jury's determination on appeal."

In footnote 8 of Walls, the Court noted that reasonable persons could conclude that the facts of the murder inconsistent with the presence of the two mental mitigators. psychiatrist said he could not testify as to Walls' state of mind at the time of the murder, and on the whole the facts were consistent with the conclusion that any impairment Walls suffered was non-statutory in nature, and in any event, was of far slighter weight than the aggravating factors found to exist. Id. at 391. See also Wuornos v. State, 644, So. 2d 1000, 1010 (Fla. 1994) (even uncontroverted opinion testimony can be rejected and especially where it is hard to square with the evidence at hand); Farr v. <u>State</u>, 656 So. 2d 448, 450 (Fla. 1995); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 648, 663 (Fla. 1995); <u>Wuornos v. State</u>, 676 So. 2d 972, 975 (Fla. 1996); <u>Knight v. State</u>, 721 So. 2d 287, 299 1998) (citing Gudinas v. State, 693 So. 2d 953, 957 affirming trial court's rejection of statutory mitigator where the expert's opinion was "too heavily based upon unsupported facts"); Knight v. State, 746 So. 2d 423, 436 (Fla. 1998).

Appellant argues that the lower court's rejection of the

extreme mental and emotional disturbance mitigator was erroneous. The trial court chose to credit the testimony of friends and family members that appellant was acting normal and there was nothing out of the ordinary (R19, 2128, 2131-32, 2141; R25, 3031). Even Dr. Dee admitted that the depression he observed when appellant was incarcerated would be normal for someone facing a first degree murder charge (R25, 3131-3132). The trial court was entitled to credit the testimony of relatives on appellant's normal, ordinary behavior. Walls, supra; Wuornos, supra. Moreover, while rejecting Dr. Dee's testimony in part, the trial court did consider, find and give weight to appellant's depression and attempted suicide in jail as non-statutory mitigating factors (R7, 1079, Paragraph 6; R7, 1080 Paragraph 13; R7, 1081, Paragraph 20):

6. Any mental illness of the Defendant may have been controlled by medication.

defense relies on Dr. evaluation and testimony. Dr. Dee was of the opinion the Defendant had brain damage. He did not suggest medication would cure or alter condition. He testified that the Defendant had impulse disorder as a result of his brain damage. The Court has rejected this However, even if his theory is theory. correct, Dr. Dee did not suggest medication which would correct this problem. Dr. Dee did say that the Defendant had been suffering from depression since he had been in jail and that he had attempted suicide. He was prescribed medication for his depression. Finally, he testified that the Defendant heard voices and was given medication for that condition.

The Court is reasonably convinced this

mitigating circumstance exist and it is given little weight. (R1079) (emphasis supplied)

13. The Defendant suffered from depression as a result of his conduct and attempted suicide in the jail.

There was expert testimony that the Defendant suffers from depression since being incarcerated and is on medication. It is also true that the Defendant attempted suicide in the jail. However, there was no expert testimony suggesting that his depression and suicide attempt were related to his conduct as opposed to the fact that he is charged with murder and is incarcerated. This mitigating factor was proven and given little weight.

20. <u>Defendant has never received</u> treatment for his mental or emotional <u>problems</u>.

The defense offers no argument concerning this mitigator. However, the record reveals Defendant has received treatment since being incarcerated. He is currently on antidepressive medication. The court finds this mitigator was proven and the Court gives it little weight. (R1081)⁸

Thus, unlike other cases in which this Court remanded for further proceedings, here the trial court considered and found mitigating evidence albeit as non-statutory mitigation rather than as appellant would have desired under a statutory mitigating category.

Appellant also complains about the Court's reference to the

Obviously the trial court did consider and give weight to the testimony of Dr. Dee and Dr. Ashby to find the depression medication factor. Dr. Ashby testified before commencement of trial that he was treating Nelson for a mood disorder and providing Imipramine for depression (R15, 1443). Any contention that the court ignored or refused to consider expert testimony is erroneous.

paucity of school records. Dee acknowledged that while Nelson had been held back in earlier grades, he was not held back after third grade. In his last year, grade nine, he scored one A, two B's and two C's. He had no D's or F's and he neither flunked out nor was he kicked out of school (R25, 3163-64). Dr. Dee reviewed records of his birth and records from the public health department and nothing of consequence was noted. He found nothing in the medical records or the history he took from him indicating any type of head injury (R25, 3166-67). While Dr. Dee opined about Nelson's depression, records characterized him diagnostically as adjustment disorder with depressed mood (R25, 3137).

The lower court correctly declined to find extreme mental and emotional disturbance. Significantly, appellee notes that Dr. Dee opined that the cause of the severe emotional disturbance was his "abuse", i.e. that he felt he didn't belong anywhere. Dee described the neglect as a lack of supervision (R3189-90). Dee's impression of this was not confirmed by talking to anybody other than the Defendant (R3191). The only indication of neglect is what appellant told him (R3192). While appellant may have given such self-serving reports to Dee, that was contradicted by the testimony of defense witnesses Lelia Eiland who treated appellant as one of her own children (R2997-3002), John Eiland who testified there was a lot of supervision by the older brothers (R3033), Calvin Fogle who described the family as tight, you could go and talk to each

other about problems and no one was left stranded (R3076-82), and Judy Bolton who testified that she and appellant were given the same type of love as the other children (R3105). Since the basis for his opinion on extreme disturbance was belied by testimony of other witnesses, the lower court could reject it. <u>Walls</u>, supra. <u>Wuornos</u>, supra.

Moreover, even if the trial court had erred on this point, any such error would be harmless in light of the substantial overwhelming nature of the aggravating circumstances present. See Morton v. State, 789 So. 2d 324, 331 (Fla. 2001) (five aggravators present as to one victim, three aggravators present as to a second including HAC and CCP - and judge weighed related victim, mitigating evidence); Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1011 (Fla. 1994) (trial court's failure to find and weigh defendant's alcoholism, difficult childhood, and some degree of non-statutory impaired capacity and mental disturbances was harmless error given the aggravating circumstances in the record); Wickham v. State, 593 So. 2d 191, 194 (Fla. 1991) (trial court's failure to find and weigh defendant's abusive childhood, alcoholism and extensive history of hospitalization for mental disorders including schizophrenia constituted harmless error in light of the six aggravating factors found).

Appellant next complains that the lower court erred in finding the impaired capacity to appreciate the criminality and to conform

to the requirements of law mitigator. F.S. 921.141(b)(f). Dr. Dee admitted that appellant knew what he was doing was wrong - he wasn't suffering a delusion that he should kill to save mankind (R25, 3195). Dr. Dee did not appreciate as a significant fact that appellant removed this elderly, vulnerable victim to a very remote area away from where people would be (R25, 3196). Appellee submits that a reasonable jury and judge could attach great significance to Dr. Dee thought Nelson was impulsive because he that fact. suddenly entered the victim's residence, but could point to no activity in the subsequent hours showing impulsivity (R25, 3199). Dee opined that the ability to control himself would be diminished (R3201), yet the facts show that appellant did not act in a frenzied or impulsive manner on his decision to murder the victim; rather after several hours elapsed following the kidnapping and after leaving the originally intended murder site where Weir and Morgan aided in the car rescue, he killed Brace. testimony on this point was useless given that appellant did not tell him his mental processes throughout the episode (R3201-03). We know that Nelson was not completely forthright with Dr. Dee since he continued to deny the sexual assault despite the presence of contrary evidence (R3203). Appellant here does not challenge the sexual battery conviction.

Contrary to appellant's insinuation, the trial court did not improperly believe that the test of sanity was identical to the one

applied to this mitigator. The Court findings relied on this Court's decision in <u>Preston v. State</u>, 607 So. 2d 404, 411 (Fla. 1992), for the proposition that taking steps to avoid detection indicates that the capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct was not substantially impaired. See also <u>Ponticelli v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 483, 490 (Fla. 1991) (testimony of ability to differentiate right from wrong is clearly relevant to a determination of defendant's sanity and also relevant in determining whether the capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired).

Dr. Dee testified as to appellant's report of hearing voices that Nelson said they began after a childhood friend died when he was between seven and ten years old. Dr. Dee could not relate it to that particular event and Dee did not speak to any family members to confirm the incident; nor was he able to talk to anyone or find any records that would document that auditory hallucinations began at an early age (R25, 3178-81). He had no source of information about the voices other than from the defendant himself. Appellant did not tell him that he was hearing voices on the day he killed Brace, only seeing things (R25, 3182).

The trial court did question Dr. Dee's conclusion about brain damage. Dr. Dee stated on cross-examination that his initial IQ testing was very low (that was a few weeks after the suicide

attempt when Nelson was depressed), but testing some months later yielded the higher result consistent with what he'd scored with Dr. Kremper and the school system (R3161). He did not perform any CAT medical type test - no MRI or radiographs, scan, only neuropsychological tests (R3162). He was getting good grades in school in his last year (1 A, 2 B's, 2 C's) (R3164). Although Dr. Dee did mention appellant's mother's alcoholism, there was nothing in the birth records of any consequence and he was not suggesting any fetal alcohol syndrome (R3166). There was no indication of any head injury (R3167). Dr. Dee did not know when the brain damage occurred and suspected it was from birth; his conclusion was based on the differential between the mental quotient and IQ and performance on tests (R3187-88).

Appellant's criticism of the trial court's rejection of Dr. Dee's conclusion concerning organic brain damage is not well-placed. The trial court correctly noted that Dee's supposition was not supported or corroborated by such objective evidence or medical testing as a CAT scan, brain wave (electroencephalograms) or MRI. Dr. Dee indicated that no such supportive or testing had been done, and there was no indication in the records of any head injury and Dr. Dee was not suggesting fetal alcohol syndrome from the mother's alcoholism. Nelson should not be permitted to assert for the first time on appeal any new, additional <u>factual</u> material not presented to the judge and jury below - and not subjected either to cross-

examination or contrary rebuttal testimony - as he has attempted by attaching the appendix to his brief. That appendix should be stricken. That appendix should be stricken. It is axiomatic that reviewing courts will not consider factual matters not presented to nor considered by the lower court in the record being reviewed. See generally Altchiler v. State, Dept. of Professional Regulation, Division of Professions, Board of Dentistry, 442 So. 2d 349 (Fla. 1 DCA 1983); Mann v. State Road Dept., 223 So. 2d 383 (Fla. 1 DCA 1969); Thornber v. City of Ft. Walton Beach, 534 So. 2d 754 (Fla. 1 DCA 1988); Rosenberg v. Rosenberg, 511 So. 2d 593 (Fla. 3 DCA 1987).

Obviously if appellant had some organic, structural defect in the brain, it is not unreasonable to believe that a CAT scan, MRI or EEG might reveal it. Similarly a PET scan might be available to show improper functioning of the brain. That appellant offered no such objective evidence of organic brain damage to corroborate Dee's view justified the lower court in rejecting the contention which remained unsupported by objective medical data. 10 c.f. Ferguson v. State, 789 So. 2d 306, 313 (Fla. 2001) (CAT scan, MRI and EEG provided some indications of organic brain damage); Davis v. State, 742 So. 2d 233, 237 (Fla. 1999) (rejecting request for PET

This Court recently struck similar improper attachments to a brief in its order of March 27, 2001 in <u>Vining v. State</u>, Fla. Case No. SC99-67.

As appellee reads the lower court's findings, the lower court's dicta about the <u>Frye</u> standard related to Dr. Dee's speculation about the mother's alcoholism being indicative of brain damage.

scan as procedurally barred and noting that defendant had CT scan and electroencephalogram which indicated no abnormalities); Sexton v. State, 775 So 2d 923, 936-937 (Fla. 2000) (trial court found extreme mental or emotional disturbance after PET scan and MRI exam, which still did not obviate CCP aggravator); Sireci v. State, 587 So. 2d 450, 455 (Fla. 1991) (trial court could reject statutory mental mitigator because of conflicting evidence where state radiologist opined CAT scan and MRI indicated only mild brain injury).

Even assuming arguendo that the lower court erred in failing to find this mitigator, such error would be harmless error in light of the fact of the presence of substantial aggravators and the court's consideration (as indicated in his order) of all the mitigation that was presented. Morton v. State, 789 So. 2d 324, 331 (Fla. 2001); Muornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1011 (Fla. 1994); Mickham v. State, 593 So. 2d 191, 194 (Fla. 1991).

Age -

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